III. CONDENSED MATTER THEORY

CONTENTS

Low-Energy Physics Of Bcs Hamiltonian Of Strongly Correlated Electrons	2
E. A. Kochetov	
Mobility In Epitaxial Gan: Limitation Of Electron Transport Due To Dislocation Walls	4
S. E. Krasavin	
Droplet Shape Within The Spherical Model Of Lattice Gas	7
A. E. Patrick	
Microscopic Theory Of Spin-Excitation Spectrum In Superconducting Cuprates	9
A.A. Vladimirov, D. Ihle, N. M. Plakida	
Superconformal Indices and Dualities	14
V. P. Spiridonov and G. S. Vartanov	
Dynamics Of Quantum-Dot Superradiance	18
V.I. Yukalov, E.P. Yukalova	
Low-Temperature Electrical Resistivity In The Geometrically Frustrated Nearly Anti-	
ferromagnetic Metallic System LiV_2O_4	21
V. Yu. Yushankhai	
The List of Publications	24

LOW-ENERGY PHYSICS OF BCS HAMILTONIAN OF STRONGLY CORRELATED ELECTRONS

E. A. Kochetov

Bogoliubov Lab. of Theoretical Physics, JINR, 141980 Dubna, Russia

The investigation of strongly correlated electron systems has been the central issue in solid state physics for more than four decades. The discovery of high- T_c superconductivity in copper-oxide based compounds (cuprates) revived interest in simple models displaying such strong correlations. Two much investigated models are the Hubbard model and its "descendant the t-J model. One of the main theoretical questions in that field is whether or not there is a superconducting phase in the t-J model [1]. Besides, the interplay between antiferromagnetism and superconductivity in the cuprates as well as their sensitivity to doping is still not very well understood.

An electron system is said to be strongly correlated if the leading energy scale in the problem is the on-site Coulomb repulsion energy. In this case, the low-energy sector of the underlying on-site Hilbert space should be modified to exclude a state occupied by two electrons. Such a modification results in an entirely new physics to account for the relevant low-energy excitations. Formally, strong correlations are encoded into the Gutzwiller-projected electron (Hubbard) operators, $X^{\sigma 0} = |\sigma\rangle \langle 0|$, where the electron spin projection $\sigma =\uparrow, \downarrow$, and vector $|0\rangle$ stands for a vacancy state. These operators act directly in the restricted Hilbert space as opposed to the conventional electron operators c^{\dagger}_{σ} which describe the unconstrained system. In contrast with the conventional fermion operators, which generate the standard fermionic algebra, the Hubbard operators obey more complicated commutation/anticommutation relations and are closed into a superalgebra su(2|1) [2].

The conventional Bardeen-Cooper-Schrieffer (BCS) Hamiltonian induced by phonon-electron interaction reads

$$H_{BCS} = -t \sum_{ij\sigma} \left(c^{\dagger}_{i\sigma} c_{j\sigma} + H.c. \right) + \Delta \sum_{ij} \left(c^{\dagger}_{i\uparrow} c^{\dagger}_{j\downarrow} - c^{\dagger}_{i\downarrow} c^{\dagger}_{j\uparrow} + H.c. \right), \tag{1}$$

where t and Δ are coupling constants and the summation is extended over nn lattice sites. It can easily be diagonalized in the momentum space, which results in the ground state represented by a phase-coherent condensate of Cooper pairs. On the other hand, in superconducting state induced by electron-electron interaction the formation of Cooper pairs must reflect strong electron correlations. As a result, the BCS effective Hamiltonian should be directly modified by the inclusion of the non-double occupancy (NDO) constraint to account for such an effect. The Gutzwiller-projected (or strongly correlated) BCS Hamiltonian then reads

$$H_{BCS}^{G} = -t \sum_{ij\sigma} \left(X_i^{\sigma 0} X_j^{0\sigma} + H.c. \right) + \Delta \sum_{ij} \left(X_i^{\uparrow 0} X_j^{\downarrow 0} - X_i^{\downarrow 0} X_j^{\uparrow 0} + H.c. \right).$$
(2)

A few years back, Park discussed a close connection between the t-J model and the Gutzwillerprojected BCS Hamiltonian [3]. It was shown both numerically and analytically that the ground states of the t-J model at half filling (i.e. of the aniferromagnetic (AF) Heisenberg model) and of the strongly correlated BCS Hamiltonian are equivalent to each other. Moreover, at sufficiently small doping, there is numerical evidence of a strong overlap between those two ground state wavefunctions, which provides further support for the existence of superconductivity in the t-J model. Clearly, it is interesting to establish by analytical means such an equivalence at *nonzero* hole concentration. As is known, slightly away from half filling the long-range AF order is still observed in the cuprate superconductors. If the projected BCS Hamiltonian is indeed believed to contain close to half filling the low-energy physics of the t-J Hamiltonian, its ground state must also exhibit the AF order in the immediate vicinity of half filling.

However, an analytical treatment of strongly correlated BCS Hamiltonian (2) poses a sever technical problem. This Hamiltonian cannot be diagonalized either in a general case, or in the limiting cases of t = 0 or $\Delta = 0$. Due to the local NDO constraint the present problem is essentially at strong coupling. To derive a reliable approach, one should resolve the NDO constraint prior to any approximations.

This can explicitly be carried out within the su(2|1) path-integral representation of the partition function. We employ this technique to derive the low-energy long-wavelength effective action for the lightly doped 2D projected BCS Hamiltonian (2) on a bipartite lattice. The action obtained is shown to be identical to that of the 2D quantum antiferromagnetic Heisenberg model explicitly represented by the classical 3D nonlinear σ -model [4]. In other words, close to half filling the ground state of the Gutzwiller-projected BCS Hamiltonian is antiferromagnetically ordered and non-superconducting. Since the conventional BCS Hamiltonian does not exhibit any magnetic ordering and always displays superconductivity, this result explicitly demonstrates that antiferromagnetism appears as a natural consequence of the strong Coulomb repulsion at low doped regimes. This result shows also that the ground state of the strong-pairing Gutzwiller-projected BCS Hamiltonian (2) can be considered as a reference state to a lightly doped Mott insulator. Technically, this is an important observation since it explicitly shows that the ordered magnetic state can evolve directly out of the strongly correlated spin-liuid phase.

On the other hand, at moderate doping the ground state of the Gutzwiller-projected BCS Hamiltonian becomes qualitatively similar to Anderson's resonating valence bond state which is known to fit nicely the properties of the t-J model in this regime. This indicates that the projected BCS Hamiltonian (2) captures the essential low-energy physics of the t-J model in the whole underdoped region [4].

- [1] E. Dagotto, Rev. Mod. Phys. 66 (1994) 763.
- [2] P.B. Wiegmann, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 821.
- [3] K. Park, Phys. Rev. Lett. **95** (2005) 027001.
- [4] E. Kochetov, A. Ferraz and R. Pepino, Phys. Rev. B 79 (2009) 115135.

MOBILITY IN EPITAXIAL GaN: LIMITATION OF ELECTRON TRANSPORT DUE TO DISLOCATION WALLS

S. E. Krasavin

Bogoliubov Lab. of Theoretical Physics, JINR, 141980 Dubna, Russia

It is well known that the extended defects of different types (mainly dislocations and dislocation substructures) frequently occur in thin semiconducting films and layers. In this context, the problem of their effect on carriers transport is of considerable present interest, both for theoretical and practical reasons [1].

Recently, these investigations have been stimulated additionally by the reason of new promising applications of GaN epitaxial films in optoelectronics [2, 3]. However, the performance of the devices based on GaN is limited by threading dislocations (exclusive of recently synthesized materials [4, 5]) with large densities $10^8 - 10^{11}$ cm⁻², which are the result from the large lattice mismatch between epilayer and substrate [6, 7, 8]. To improve the device characteristics, the effect of dislocations on the mobility should be studied.

To study the peculiarities in electron mobility at room temperature in application to GaN epitaxial films, we suggest a model based on the well-known Read approach [9, 10]. We explain the sharp mobility drop at some critical carrier density which, in turn, depends on the dislocation substructure [11, 12]. The total transverse mobility μ^* versus carrier density n is calculated when additional scattering due to electrostatic potential of a row of dislocation walls is the fact found in most experiments that threading dislocations concentrate at subgrain boundaries lining up in row [11, 13]. In this picture, at some conditions (See discussion below) the mobility can be thermally activated because of the charged dislocation barriers present. The equation for the potential barriers is obtained here based on the model proposed in [14].

Let the wall of negatively charged dislocations be oriented along the y axis with the distance between them equal to D, and the lines of each dislocation are directed along the z axis. The negative charge in the dislocation line is compensated by a cylindrical positive spacecharge region, with radius R around any dislocation. Thus, we have the periodically ordered cylinders with radius R. The Poisson equation in this case in the Schottky approximation can be written as

$$\frac{\partial^2 \phi(x,y)}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \phi(x,y)}{\partial y^2} = -\frac{e}{\epsilon \epsilon_0} \Big[\left(N_d^+ - N_a^- \right) \theta(L(y) - |x|) - \frac{f \delta(x)}{c} \sum_{n=-\infty}^\infty \delta(y - nD) \Big], \quad (1)$$
$$\theta(\xi) = \begin{cases} 1, & \xi > 0\\ 0, & \xi \le 0 \end{cases},$$

where N_d^+ , N_a^- are the volume doping and unintentional acceptor densities, respectively. $D = b/2 \sin \frac{\alpha}{2}$, b is the absolute value of the Burgers vector, f is the fraction of sites of dislocation that are occupied, ϵ is the dielectric constant, $L(y) = \sqrt{R^2 - y^2}$ is a periodic function along the y axis which is the screening length where the potential $\phi(x, y)$ is not equal to zero (by definition, $\phi(x, y) = 0$ when $|x| \ge L(y)$). Notice that $\phi(x, y)$ is an even function on y with the period D, and can be represented as a Fourier series

$$\phi(x,y) = \phi_0(x) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi_n(x) \cos(\frac{2\pi ny}{D}),$$
(2)

where the explicit form of the expansion coefficients in Eq.(2) can be found in [15]. The barrier-limited mobility, generally, takes the form [16]

$$\mu_{GB} = \left(\frac{eL}{\sqrt{8kT\pi m^*}}\right) \exp\left(-V(0, y = R)/kT\right),\tag{3}$$

where e is the absolute value of the electron charge, m^* its effective mass, k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, L is the average grain size, and $V(0, y = R) = -e\phi(0, y = R)$ is the value of the two-dimensional potential barrier caused by charged dislocations at x = 0. Notice that the potential V(0, y = R) has quite a simple form when $2R \approx D$ [14]

$$V(0, y = D/2) = -e\phi(0, y = D/2) = \frac{4e^2(N_d^+ - N_a^-)R^3}{3\epsilon_0\epsilon D} - \frac{e^2f}{2c\pi\epsilon_0\epsilon}\ln 2.$$
(4)

Figure 1: Room temperature mobility vs free carrier concentration for two samples with $N_{dis} = 5 \times 10^9 \text{cm}^{-2}$ (open circles), $N_{dis} = 2 \times 10^{10} \text{cm}^{-2}$ (closed circles) from Ref. [12]. Solids lines are theoretical curves. A set of the model parameters used in calculations: (open circles) f = 0.05, D = 1000Å, compensation ratio equal to 0.3, L = 30000Å; (closed circles) f = 0.05, D = 900Å, compensation ratio equal to 0.4, L = 30000Å. Other parameters are taken from Ref. [18]

Thus, the total effective mobility takes the form [16, 17]

$$\frac{1}{\mu^*} = \frac{1}{\mu_1} + \frac{1}{\mu_{GB}},\tag{5}$$

where μ_1 is the mobility caused by different mechanisms of scattering in GaN films except charged dislocation walls. We have used the explicit form for μ_1 and the main parameters for GaN from [18]. Using the proposed here model, we are able to reproduce quantitatively the drop of the mobility μ^* at some critical meanings of carrier density, as one can see from Figure 1. The sharp transition to the low mobility regime is caused by the domination of μ_{GB} as *n* falls.

The nature of this domination is the rise of the potential barrier as the dopant density decreases, since V(0, y = R) is a function of the ratio 2R/D, while $R \sim 1/\sqrt{N_d^+ - N_a^-}$. As

the result, μ_{GB} decreases as $n = N_d^+ - N_a^- - n_t$ decreases $(\mu_1 \gg \mu_{GB})$, and from Eq.(9) we have $\mu^* \simeq \mu_{GB}$. Since the doping level increases, the bulk single-crystal mobility starts to dominate. Also, at fixed 2R, V(0, y = R) will be greater for smaller D (increase of the local dislocation density in the dislocation wall). This explains the correlation between the position of the minimum of n and the dislocation density. However, the model does not allow to reproduce the rise of the mobility below the minimum (2R/D > 1). Most likely, this increase can be explained in the framework of the percolation theory [16, 19].

- Matare H.F., "Defect Electronics in Semiconductors", (Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1971).
- [2] Pearton S.J., Zolper J.C., Shul R.J., and Ren F., J. Appl. Phys. 86 (1999) 1.
- [3] Edgar J., Strite S., Akasaki L., Amano H., and Wetzel C., London: INSPEC, IEE 1999.
- [4] Huang D., Yun F., Reshchikov M.A., Wang D., Morkoc H., Rode D.L., Farina L.A., Kurdak C., Tsen K.T. Park S.S., and Lee K.Y., Sol State Electr. 45 (2001) 711.
- [5] Look D.C. and Sizerlove J.R., Appl. Phys. Lett. **105** (2001) 126104.
- [6] Kapolnec D., Wu X.H., Heying B., Keller S., Keller B.P., Mishra U.K., DenBaars S.P. and Speck J.S., Appl. Phys. Lett. 67 (1995) 1541.
- [7] Lester S.D., Ponce F.A., Craford M.G., and Steigerwald D.A., Appl. Phys. Lett. 66 (1995) 1249.
- [8] Heying B., Wu X.H., Keller S., Li Y., Kapolnek D., Keller B.P., DenBaars S.P., and Speck J.S., Appl. Phys. Lett. 68 (1996) 643.
- [9] Read W.T., Phil. Mag. **45** (1954) 775.
- [10] Read W.T., Phil. Mag. **46** (1955) 111.
- [11] Fehrer M., Einfeldt S., Birkle U., Gollnik T., and Hommel D., J. Cryst. Growth 189/190 (1998) 763.
- [12] Farvacque J.-L., Bougrioua Z., and Moerman I., Phys. Rev. B 63 (2001) 115202.
- [13] Potin V., Ruterana P., and Nouet G., Pond R.C., Morkoc H., Phys. Rev. B 61 (2000) 5587.
- [14] Doschanov K.M., Shamirzaev S.X., Semicond. **12** (1978) 2328.
- [15] Krasavin S., J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. **248** (2010) 1.
- [16] Orton J.W. and Powell M.J., Rep. Prog. Phys. 43 (1980) 81.
- [17] Kazmerski L.L., Berry W.B., and Allen C.W., J. Appl. Phys. 43 (1972) 3515.
- [18] Shur M., Gelmont B., and Asif Khan M., J. Elec. Mat. 25 (1996) 777.
- [19] Kirkpatrick S., Rev. Mod. Phys. **45** (1973) 574.

DROPLET SHAPE WITHIN THE SPHERICAL MODEL OF LATTICE GAS

A. E. Patrick

Bogoliubov Lab. of Theoretical Physics, JINR, 141980 Dubna, Russia

Substances in the liquid state tend to form droplets. On the phenomenological level, the description of their shapes reduces to minimization of surface tension (the Wulff functional). However, in order to solve this problem from first principles (starting from a microscopic description of a macroscopic system), one has to overcome several fundamentally difficult obstacles. The first one is connected with the fact that in translation invariant systems the spatial location of the droplet is not fixed, and hence the natural state of the system under investigation is mixed (not pure). Average values of microscopic variables in a state like this inherit translation invariance of the Hamiltonian and, therefore, do not reveal the droplet shape. On the other hand, experimental observations are described by pure states.



Figure 1: The shape of the maximally symmetric droplet.

One can try to single out pure states with the help of quasi-averages, but in doing so we encounter the second obstacle one has to overcome. Quasi-averaging proved to be quite an efficient tool for calculating observable values of intensive quantities, like density or magnetization. However, when it comes to surface properties, the situation becomes more complicated. An arbitrarily weak external field (of magnitude ε) deforms droplets unrecognisably and, therefore, is not helpful for finding such delicate characteristics as a droplet shape. Fortunately, there exists a more potent version of quasi-averaging, where the magnitude of external field tends to zero in the thermodynamic limit (as $\varepsilon n^{-\delta}$), see [1]. It turns out that if the field is switched off sufficiently fast, the obtained density profiles do not depend on the field magnitude ε and the switching-off exponent δ , and hence these profiles describe the true droplet shapes.

In paper [3], the shape of droplets of condensed matter is investigated within the spherical model of a lattice gas, see [2, 4], defined on a square lattice Z^d . The Hamiltonian of the model is given by

$$H_n = -J \sum_{j,k \in V_n} T_{jk} x_j x_k - \sum_{j \in V_n} h_j x_j,$$

where J > 0, and T_{jk} are the elements of the nearest-neighbour interaction matrix. In order to obtain a model with a physically sensible low-temperature phase, one can impose the so-called spherical constraint, $\sum_{j \in V_n} x_j^2 = n^d$. Finally, in order to prevent one of the thermodynamically stable phases filling the entire available volume V_n , we have to impose the density constraint $\sum_{j \in V_n} x_j = \rho n^d$.

It is shown in [3] that the droplet boundary within the spherical model is always diffuse, as opposed to sharp, and the corresponding density profiles (droplet shapes) can be described by exact formulae. The 2D slice of the maximally symmetric droplet is shown in Fig. 1.

- [1] J. G. Brankov, V. A. Zagrebnov, and N. S. Tonchev, "Description of the limit Gibbs states for the Curie-Weiss-Ising model", Theor. Math. Phys. **66** (1986) 72–80.
- [2] H. A. Gersch and T. H. Berlin, "Spherical Lattice Gas", Phys. Rev. 127 (1962) 2276– 2283.
- [3] A. E. Patrick, "A Droplet within the Spherical Model", to be published in Journal of Statistical Physics [arXiv: 1011.4924].
- [4] W. Pressman and J. B. Keller, "Equation of State and Phase Transition of the Spherical Lattice Gas", Phys. Rev. 120 (1960) 22–32.

MICROSCOPIC THEORY OF SPIN-EXCITATION SPECTRUM IN SUPERCONDUCTING CUPRATES

A.A. Vladimirov^a, D. Ihle^b, and N. M. Plakida^{a,c}

^aJoint Institute for Nuclear Research, 141980 Dubna, Russia

^b Institut für Theoretische Physik, Universität Leipzig, D-04109, Leipzig, Germany ^cMax-Planck-Institut für Physik komplexer Systeme, D-01187, Dresden, Germany

1. General theory

To describe spin excitations in strongly correlated electronic systems, such as superconducting cuprates [4], the t-J model is commonly used. It can be written as

$$H = -\sum_{i \neq j,\sigma} t_{ij} X_i^{\sigma 0} X_j^{0\sigma} - \mu \sum_{i\sigma} X_i^{\sigma \sigma} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{i \neq j,\sigma} J_{ij} \left(X_i^{\sigma \bar{\sigma}} X_j^{\bar{\sigma}\sigma} - X_i^{\sigma\sigma} X_j^{\bar{\sigma}\bar{\sigma}} \right), \qquad (1)$$

where t_{ij} is the hopping integral and J_{ij} is the exchange interaction. The Hubbard operators $X_i^{\alpha\beta} = |i, \alpha\rangle\langle i, \beta|$ describe transitions between three possible states at a site *i* on a square lattice: an empty (hole) state $|i, 0\rangle$ and a singly occupied state $|i, \sigma\rangle$ with spin $\sigma = \pm (1/2)$, ($\bar{\sigma} = -\sigma$). The number and spin operators are given by: $N_i = \sum_{\sigma} X_i^{\sigma\sigma}, S_i^{\sigma} = X_i^{\sigma\bar{\sigma}}, S_i^z = \sum_{\sigma} \sigma X_i^{\sigma\sigma}$. The chemical potential μ is determined from the equation for the average electron density $n = \langle N_i \rangle = 1 - \delta$, where $\delta = \langle X_i^{00} \rangle$ is the hole concentration.

Applying the Mori-type projection technique, an exact representation of DSS in terms of the transverse spin-density operators $S_{\mathbf{q}}^{\pm} = S_{\mathbf{q}}^{x} \pm i S_{\mathbf{q}}^{y}$ was derived [1],

$$\chi(\mathbf{q},\omega) = -\langle\!\langle S_{\mathbf{q}}^+ | S_{-\mathbf{q}}^- \rangle\!\rangle_\omega = \frac{m(\mathbf{q})}{\omega_{\mathbf{q}}^2 + \omega \,\Sigma(\mathbf{q},\omega) - \omega^2},\tag{2}$$

where $m(\mathbf{q}) = \langle [i\dot{S}^+_{\mathbf{q}}, S^-_{-\mathbf{q}}] \rangle = \langle [S^+_{\mathbf{q}}, H], S^-_{-\mathbf{q}}] \rangle$, and $\omega_{\mathbf{q}}$ is the spin-excitation spectrum in a generalized mean-field approximation (MFA). The self-energy is given by the many-particle Kubo-Mori relaxation function

$$\Sigma(\mathbf{q},\omega) = [1/m(\mathbf{q})] \left(\left(-\ddot{S}_{\mathbf{q}}^{+} \right| - \ddot{S}_{-\mathbf{q}}^{-} \right) \right)_{\omega}^{(\text{proper})}, \qquad (3)$$

where $-\ddot{S}_{\mathbf{q}}^{\pm} = [[S_{\mathbf{q}}^{\pm}, H], H]$. The Kubo-Mori relaxation function is defined as

$$((A|B))_{\omega} = -i \int_0^\infty dt e^{i\omega t} (A(t), B), \quad (A(t), B) = \int_0^\beta d\lambda \langle A(t - i\lambda)B \rangle, \tag{4}$$

where $\beta = 1/k_{\rm B}T$. The "proper" part of the relaxation function (3) does not contain parts connected by a single-particle relaxation function which corresponds to the projected time evolution in the original Mori projection technique. The spin-excitation spectrum is given by the imaginary part of DSS $\chi''(\mathbf{q}, \omega)$ in (2). The static susceptibility in (2) is defined by the equation $\chi_{\mathbf{q}} = \chi(\mathbf{q}, 0) = m(\mathbf{q})/\omega_{\mathbf{q}}^2$. The spin-excitation spectrum $\omega_{\mathbf{q}}$ was calculated from the equality $m(\mathbf{q}) = (-\ddot{S}_{\mathbf{q}}^+, S_{-\mathbf{q}}^-) = \omega_{\mathbf{q}}^2 (S_{\mathbf{q}}^+, S_{-\mathbf{q}}^-)$, where the correlation function $(-\ddot{S}_{\mathbf{q}}^+, S_{-\mathbf{q}}^-)$ was evaluated in the mode-coupling approximation (MCA).

The self-energy (3) is defined in terms of the operators $-\ddot{S}_i^{\pm} = [[S_i^{\pm}, (H_t + H_J)], (H_t + H_J)] \equiv \sum_{\alpha} F_i^{\alpha} \ (\alpha = tt, tJ, Jt, JJ)$, where H_t and H_J are the hopping and the exchange parts of

the Hamiltonian (1). There are 16 contributions of type $((F_{\mathbf{q}}^{\alpha} | F_{-\mathbf{q}}^{\gamma}))_{\omega}$. As calculations show, at a finite hole doping $\delta > 0.05$ the largest contribution to the self-energy (3) is given by the term $\Sigma_t(\mathbf{q}, \omega) = ((F_{\mathbf{q}}^{tt} | F_{-\mathbf{q}}^{tt}))_{\omega}$ coming from the spin-electron scattering [2],

$$F_{i}^{tt} = \sum_{j,n} t_{ij} \Big\{ t_{jn} \left[H_{ijn}^{-} + H_{nji}^{+} \right] - t_{in} \left[H_{jin}^{-} + H_{nij}^{+} \right] \Big\},$$
(5)

where $H_{ijn}^{\sigma} = X_i^{\sigma 0} S_j^+ X_n^{0\sigma} + X_i^{+0} (1 - N_j/2) X_n^{0-}$. We calculate the self-energy in the MCA assuming independent propagation of electronic $(X_i^{\sigma 0})$ and bosonic (S_j^+, N_j) excitations at different lattice sites in (5). This results in the decoupling of the time-dependent many-particle correlation function into a product of the corresponding single-particle functions:

$$\left\langle X_{\mathbf{q_3}}^{\sigma 0} S_{-\mathbf{q_2}}^{-} X_{\mathbf{q_1}}^{0\sigma} | X_{\mathbf{q_1}}^{\sigma 0}(t) S_{\mathbf{q_2}}^{+}(t) X_{\mathbf{q_3}}^{0\sigma}(t) \right\rangle = \left\langle X_{\mathbf{q_1}}^{0\sigma} X_{\mathbf{q_1}}^{\sigma 0}(t) \right\rangle \left\langle S_{-\mathbf{q_2}}^{-} S_{\mathbf{q_2}}^{+}(t) \right\rangle \left\langle X_{\mathbf{q_3}}^{\sigma 0} X_{\mathbf{q_3}}^{0\sigma}(t) \right\rangle. \tag{6}$$

Using the MCA and the MFA for the corresponding single-particle correlation function in (6) the imaginary part of the self-energy can be written as [3]

$$\Sigma_{t}^{\prime\prime}(\mathbf{q},\omega) = \frac{\pi(2t)^{4}}{\omega m(\mathbf{q})} \frac{Q^{2}}{N^{2}} \sum_{\mathbf{q}_{1},\mathbf{q}_{2}} \sum_{\omega_{1}=\pm E_{\mathbf{q}_{1}}} \sum_{\omega_{2}=\pm \widetilde{\omega}_{\mathbf{q}_{2}}} \sum_{\omega_{3}=\pm E_{\mathbf{q}_{3}}} \frac{m(\mathbf{q}_{2})}{8\omega_{1}\omega_{2}\omega_{3}}$$
(7)
$$[N(\omega_{2})n(-\omega_{1})n(\omega_{3}) + N(-\omega_{2})n(\omega_{1})n(-\omega_{3})]\delta(\omega + \omega_{1} - \omega_{2} - \omega_{3})$$
$$[(\Lambda_{\mathbf{q}_{1},\mathbf{q}_{2},\mathbf{q}_{3}}^{2} + \Lambda_{\mathbf{q}_{3},\mathbf{q}_{2},\mathbf{q}_{1}}^{2})(\omega_{1} + \varepsilon_{\mathbf{q}_{1}})(\omega_{3} + \varepsilon_{\mathbf{q}_{3}}) - 2\Lambda_{\mathbf{q}_{1},\mathbf{q}_{2},\mathbf{q}_{3}}\Lambda_{\mathbf{q}_{3},\mathbf{q}_{2},\mathbf{q}_{1}}\Delta_{\mathbf{q}_{1}}\Delta_{\mathbf{q}_{3}}],$$

where the vertex function is defined by $\Lambda_{\mathbf{q}_1\mathbf{q}_2\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_2} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_1})\gamma_{q_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_3}, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} = 4(\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_3} - \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_3})\gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3} + \gamma_{\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_3+\mathbf{q}_3}$ $1/2(\cos q_x + \cos q_y)$ with $\mathbf{q}_3 = \mathbf{q} - \mathbf{q}_1 - \mathbf{q}_2$. In the electron spectrum $\varepsilon_{\mathbf{q}}$ we take into account only the nearest-neighbor hopping t and consider the energy dispersion in the Hubbard-I approximation: $\varepsilon_{\mathbf{q}} = -4t \, Q \, \gamma_{\mathbf{q}} - \mu$ where Q = 1 - n/2 is the Hubbard weighting factor. We consider here the superconducting state, where the spectrum of quasiparticles is given by the conventional formula $E_{\mathbf{q}} = \sqrt{\varepsilon_{\mathbf{q}}^2 + \Delta_{\mathbf{q}}^2}$, where $\Delta_{\mathbf{q}}$ is the superconducting gap function. The Fermi and Bose functions are denoted by $n(\omega) = (e^{\beta\omega} + 1)^{-1}$ and $N(\omega) = (e^{\beta\omega} - 1)^{-1}$. It should be emphasized that the self-energy (7) is determined by the decay of spin excitation with the energy ω and wave vector **q** into three excitations: a particle-hole pair and spin excitation. This process is controlled by the energy and momentum conservation laws, $\omega =$ $(\omega_3 - \omega_1) + \omega_2$ and $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}_1 + \mathbf{q}_2 + \mathbf{q}_3$, respectively. In the previous studies of the t-J model the self-energy was considered in a particle-hole bubble approximation, where the contribution of additional spin excitation was neglected or approximated by the static or mean-field-type expressions (see, e.g., [5]). This approximation resulted in the random-phasetype approximation for DSS. It is possible to derive the particle-hole bubble approximation from Eq. (7) by ignoring the spin-energy contribution ω_2 in comparison with the electronhole pair energy $(\omega_3 - \omega_1)$ and excluding the spin-excitation wave-vector \mathbf{q}_2 from the wavevector conservation law: $\mathbf{q} = \mathbf{q}_1 + \mathbf{q}_3$. In this approximation, a different behavior of the spin-excitation spectrum is observed in comparison with the results obtained for the full self-energy (7) [3].

2. Results and discussion

2.1. Static magnetic properties [2]. The spectrum of spin excitation and the static susceptibility were calculated by solving self-consistently the system of equations for the spectrum $\omega_{\mathbf{q}}$ and the static correlation function $C_{\mathbf{q}} = \langle S_{\mathbf{q}}^+ S_{-\mathbf{q}}^- \rangle = (m(\mathbf{q})/2\omega_{\mathbf{q}}) \coth(\beta \omega_{\mathbf{q}}/2)$



Figure 1: Left panel: Staggered magnetization $m(\delta)$ for different values of J/t. Right panel: Inverse AF correlation length $1/\xi(T)$ for different doping and neutron-scattering data (symbols). The inset exhibits $\xi(\delta)$ at T = 0 (solid line) and T = 0.1t (dashed line).

which defines the spectrum. At zero temperature, T = 0, a long-range antiferromagnetic (AF) order (LRO) can emerge which manifests itself in the divergency of static susceptibility $\chi_{\mathbf{q}} = m(\mathbf{q})/\omega_{\mathbf{q}}^2$ at the AF wave vector $\mathbf{Q} = \pi(1, 1)$ for a two-dimensional lattice, $\omega_{\mathbf{Q}} \to \infty$. The staggered magnetization $m^2 = 3C/2$, defined by the constant term in the pair spin-correlation function, $C_{\mathbf{R}} = (1/N) \sum_{\mathbf{q} \neq \mathbf{Q}} C_{\mathbf{q}} \exp(i\mathbf{qR}) + C \exp(i\mathbf{QR})$, at zero temperature is plotted in Fig. 1 (left panel). We obtain strong suppression of LRO with increasing doping δ due to the spin-hole interaction. Above the critical doping $\delta > \delta_c$ LRO disappears. It is remarkable that δ_c is nearly proportional to J/t.

Figure 1 (right panel) shows the inverse correlation length $\xi^{-1}(T, \delta)$ at J/t = 0.4. At zero doping, $\xi^{-1}(T)$ exhibits the known exponential decrease as $T \to 0$. For $\delta > \delta_c$ we obtain finite values of ξ as $T \to 0$ corresponding to the vanishing LRO. The reasonable agreement with the neutron-scattering experiments on La_{1.96}Sr_{0.04}CuO₄ shown by symbols is obtained [6]. Concerning the doping dependence of $\xi(\delta, T)$ depicted in the inset of Fig. 1 (right panel), it can be described approximately by the proportionality $\xi(\delta, T) \propto 1/\sqrt{\delta}$ (dashed line, holding, at T = 0, for $\delta \geq 0.1$) which agrees with the experimental findings [6].

2.2. Spin dynamics in the normal state [2]. The spectrum of spin excitations $\omega_{\mathbf{q}}$ and the damping $\Gamma_{\mathbf{q}} = -(1/2)\Sigma''(\mathbf{q},\omega_{\mathbf{q}})$ were calculated by using the equation for the imaginary part of the self-energy in the normal state $\Sigma''_t(\mathbf{q},\omega)$ (7) with $\Delta_{\mathbf{q}} = 0$ and a similar expression for the self-energy $\Sigma''_J(\mathbf{q},\omega)$ caused by the exchange interaction, $F^J =$ $[[S^{\pm}_t, H_J)], H_J]$. In the Heisenberg limit at $\delta = 0$ the spectrum of spin excitations and the damping $\Gamma_{J,\mathbf{q}}$ is shown in Fig. 2 (left panel). In the spin-wave region, at $q\xi \gg 1$, we get welldefined quasiparticles with $\Gamma_{\mathbf{q}} \ll \omega_{\mathbf{q}}$, as usually observed for the Heisenberg model. However, for nonzero doping the spin-hole scattering contribution $\Sigma''_t(\mathbf{q},\omega)$ (7) increases rapidly with doping and temperature and already at moderate hole concentration far exceeds the spinspin scattering contribution $\Sigma''_J(\mathbf{q},\omega)$, as demonstrated in Fig. 2 (right panel). We conclude that depending on \mathbf{q} , doping and temperature, the spin excitations may have a different character and dynamics. At low enough doping and low temperatures, i.e., at small enough $\Gamma_{t,\mathbf{q}}$, well-defined high-energy spin-wave-like excitations propagating in the AF short-range order background are observed, while a crossover to diffusive-type spin excitations occurred for higher doping and temperatures in accordance with neutron-scattering experiments.



Figure 2: Left panel: Spectrum $\omega_{\mathbf{q}}$ (solid line) and damping $\Gamma_{\mathbf{q}}$ (dashed line) in the Heisenberg limit, $\delta = 0$, at T = 0.35J. Right panel: Spectrum $\omega_{\mathbf{q}}$ (solid line), and damping $\Gamma_{J,\mathbf{q}}$ (dotted line) and $\Gamma_{t,\mathbf{q}}$ (dashed line) at T = 0.15t and $\delta = 0.1$.



Figure 3: Temperature dependence of the spectral function $\chi''(\mathbf{Q}, \omega)$ at $\delta = 0.2$ (left panel) and at $\delta = 0.09$ (right panel).

2.3. Spin dynamics in the superconducting state [3]. In the superconducting state the spin-excitation spectrum of high- T_c cuprates is dominated by a sharp magnetic peak at the planar AF wave vector \mathbf{Q} which is called the resonance mode (RM). It was discovered in the inelastic neutron scattering (INS) experiments which revealed a suppression of the spectral weight of low-energy spin excitations at low temperatures and its transfer to higher energies resulting in RM. Experimentally, the RM energy E_r decreases with underdoping following the superconducting transition temperature, $E_r \simeq 5.3k_BT_c$, but only weakly depends on temperature. In many publications the RM phenomenon was explained by the opening of the energy gap $2\Delta_{\mathbf{q}}$ in the particle-hole excitations below T_c , which results in appearance of a bound state (spin-exciton) at the spin energy $E_r < 2\Delta_{\mathbf{q}}$. However, in this scenario a strong temperature dependence of RM should be observed driven by $2\Delta(T)$ which has not been found in INS experiments.

To explain the appearance of RM above T_c and its weak temperature dependence, we have developed a microscopic theory of RM in [3] by generalizing our approach in [2] to the superconducting state. The temperature and doping dependence of the spectral function $\chi''(\mathbf{Q}, \omega)$ were calculated using the self-energy (7) for the *d*-wave gap function $\Delta_{\mathbf{q}} = (\Delta/2)(\cos q_x - \cos q_y)$. The DSS reveals RM at low temperatures due to a strong suppression of the damping of spin excitations. This is explained by the involvement of spin excitations in the decay process, as discussed above, besides the particle-hole continuum usually considered in the bubble-type approximation (see, e.g., [5]). The spin gap in the spin-excitation spectrum at \mathbf{Q} (see Fig. 2) plays a dominant role in limiting the decay of RM in comparison with the superconducting gap which results in the observation of RM even above T_c in the underdoped region. So as compared with the spin-exciton scenario based on the buble-type approximation, we propose an alternative explanation of RM which is driven by the spin gap at \mathbf{Q} instead of the superconducting gap 2Δ .

The temperature dependence of the spectral function in the overdoped case $\delta = 0.2$ is shown in Fig. 3 (left panel). It has high intensity at low temperatures, but strongly decreases with temperature and becomes very broad at $T \sim T_c$, as found in experiments. In Fig. 3 (right panel), the temperature dependence of the spectral function for the underdoped case $\delta = 0.09$ is plotted, whereas the resonance energy decreases with underdoping and the intensity of the RM greatly increases in accordance with experiments. The RM energy weakly depends on temperature and is still quite visible even at $T = 1.4T_c$. Good agreement of our results for the temperature and doping dependence of the spin-excitation spectrum and RM with INS experiments provides a strong support for the proposed theory (for details see [3]).

- [1] A.A. Vladimirov, D. Ihle, and N. M. Plakida, Theor. Math. Phys. 145 (2005) 1576.
- [2] A.A. Vladimirov, D. Ihle, and N. M. Plakida, Phys. Rev. B 80 (2009) 104425.
- [3] A.A. Vladimirov, D. Ihle, and N. M. Plakida, Phys. Rev. B 83 (2011) 024411.
- [4] N.M. Plakida, *High-Temperature Cuprate Superconductors. Experiment, Theory, and Applications* (Springer Series in Solid-State Sciences, Vol. 166, 2010).
- [5] I. Sega, P. Prelovšek, and J. Bonča, Phys. Rev. B 68 (2003) 054524.
- [6] M.A. Kastner, et al., Rev. Mod. Phys. 40 (1998) 897.

MULTI-PARTICLE SPACE-TIME TRANSITIONS IN THE TOTALLY ASYMMETRIC SIMPLE EXCLUSION PROCESS

A.M. Povolotsky, V.B. Priezzhev

Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, 141980 Dubna, Russia

Recently, the totally asymmetric simple exclusion process (TASEP) was a subject of numerous investigations [1, 2]. In particular, several exact results about time dependent transition probabilities were obtained for the TASEP on the infinite lattice. Among them, there are determinant formulas for the Green functions, i.e. transition probabilities between particle configurations at different time moments, which were obtained first in [3] for continuous time TASEP and then generalized to discrete time dynamics [4, 5] and to the ring geometry [6, 7]. The next advance is calculation of correlation functions which are the transition probabilities for several tagged particles, while the positions of the others are integrated out. The first result was a distribution of the position of N-th particle at arbitrary time for the TASEP with parallel update and step initial conditions, [8]. It was generalized later to the backward sequential update, [4], and extended to flat initial conditions in [9]. The way to the multiparticle distributions was discovered in [10]. Then, extensive studies were undertaken of the distributions of positions of tagged particles at given time, [11, 12], and of particles on the space-like paths, [13]. The aim of present contribution is to extend the range of available multi-particle distributions. Specifically, we consider the TASEP with backward sequential update and step initial conditions, and obtain the joint distribution of times taken by selected particles to travel given distance.

Consider N particles on the one-dimensional integer lattice. A configuration of the system \boldsymbol{x} takes its values in the set of strictly increasing integers $x_1 > x_2 > \cdots > x_N$. The TASEP is a random process which is given as a sequence of configurations $\boldsymbol{x}^0, \boldsymbol{x}^1, \ldots, \boldsymbol{x}^t$. We refer to such a sequence as a trajectory of the system up to time t. Every trajectory is realized with probability

$$P(\boldsymbol{x}^{0},...,\boldsymbol{x}^{t}) = P_{1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{t}|\boldsymbol{x}^{t-1})...P_{1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{2}|\boldsymbol{x}^{1})P_{1}(\boldsymbol{x}^{1}|\boldsymbol{x}^{0})P_{0}(\boldsymbol{x}^{0}),$$
(1)

where $P_0(\boldsymbol{x})$ is the initial probability of configuration \boldsymbol{x} . The one-step transition probability $P_1(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{y})$ from configuration \boldsymbol{y} to \boldsymbol{x} takes the form

$$P_1(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{y}) = \prod_{i=1}^N \theta\left(x_i - y_i, x_{i-1} - y_i\right), \qquad (2)$$

where $\theta(k, l) = (q + p\delta_{l,1}) \delta_{k,0} + p\delta_{k,1}$, and we formally define $x_0 = \infty$. The parameter p, the hopping probability, varies in the range 0 and we define <math>q = 1 - p.

Consider the probability for the system to be in a configuration \boldsymbol{x} after t time steps, $t \ge 0$,

$$G_t(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{y}) = \sum_{\{\boldsymbol{x}^0, \boldsymbol{x}^1, \dots, \boldsymbol{x}^{t-1}\}} P(\boldsymbol{x}^0, \dots, \boldsymbol{x}^t),$$
(3)

given $P_0(\boldsymbol{x}^0) = \delta_{\boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{x}^0}.$

Proposition 0.1 The GF has the determinantal form

$$G_t(\boldsymbol{x}|\boldsymbol{y}) = \det[F_{j-i}(x_i - y_j, t)]_{i,j=1,\dots,N},$$
(4)

where

$$F_n(x,t) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_0} \frac{dw}{w} \left(q + \frac{p}{w}\right)^t (1-w)^{-n} w^x, & t \ge 0\\ 0, & t < 0 \end{cases},$$
(5)

and the integration contour Γ_0 encircles the origin, while the point w=1 stays outside.

In present work we consider the TASEP at space-time points associated with different moments of time. To this end, we introduce a generalized Green function (GGF), [14]

Proposition 0.2 Given two admissible N-point configurations (x, t) and (x_0, t_0) , such that $t_i > t_i^0$ for i = 1, ..., N, the GGF can be expressed in the determinantal form:

$$G((\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{t})|(\boldsymbol{x}_0, \boldsymbol{t}_0)) = \det[F_{j-i}(x_i - x_j^0, t_i - t_j^0)]_{i,j=1,\dots,N},$$
(6)

where $F_n(x,t)$ is defined in (5).

Consider N particles starting at the same moment of time t = 0 at positions separated by unit intervals, $x_i^0 = 1 - i$. Our aim is to have the joint distribution

$$\mathbf{P} = Prob\left(\{t_{n_1} \le a_1\} \bigcap \{t_{n_2} \le a_2\} \bigcap \dots \bigcap \{t_{n_m} \le a_m\}\right)$$
(7)

of times t_{n_1}, \ldots, t_{n_m} , when $m \leq N$ particles labeled by indices $n_1 < n_2 < \cdots < n_m$ jump off positions x_{n_1}, \ldots, x_{n_m} taken from an array $x_i = x + N - i, i = 1, \ldots, N$ and $t_{n_1} \leq t_{n_2} \leq \cdots \leq t_{n_m}$.

Consider a set of the N-paths consisting of N paths starting at the positions (x - i + N, 0)and conditioned to make a step from $(x - i + N, t_i)$ to $(x - i + N + 1, t_i + 1)$, for i = 1, ..., Nrespectively. The probability of a particular set $t_1, ..., t_N$ is given by GGF $G((x, t)|(x^0, t^0))$ multiplied by the last step probability p^N . The probability of interest (7) is a marginal of this N particle probability. Its derivation is simplified drastically when we observe that the GGF itself is a marginal of an auxiliary determinantal point process [15].

Consider an auxiliary signed point process over the subsets of $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq x} \times \{1, \ldots, n\}$ of the form

$$\mathcal{T} = \bigcup_{1 \le n \le N} \{\tau_n^n, <\tau_{n-1}^n, <\ldots, <\tau_1^n\} \subset \mathbb{Z}_{\ge (x-1)} \times \{1,\ldots,n\}$$
(8)

given by the measure

$$\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{T}) = \frac{1}{Z_N} \prod_{n=0}^{N-1} \det[\phi_n(\tau_i^n, \tau_j^{n+1})]_{i,j=1}^{n+1} \det\left[\Psi_i^N(\tau_{N-i}^N)\right]_{i,j=0}^{N-1},\tag{9}$$

where we define the functions

$$\phi_n(z,y) = \begin{cases} p, \ y \ge z\\ 0, \ y < z \end{cases}$$
(10)

and

$$\Psi_k^N(t) = (-1)^k \widetilde{F}_{-k}(x+N-k-1,t), \tag{11}$$

where

$$\widetilde{F}_n(x,t) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\Gamma_0} \frac{dw}{w} \left(q + \frac{p}{w}\right)^t (1-w)^{-n} w^x,$$
(12)

The integral representation holds for $t \in \mathbb{Z}$.

We also introduce fictitious variables τ_n^{n-1} , $1 \le n \le N$, which are effectively less than any τ_j^n , so that $\phi_n(\tau_{n+1}^n, \tau_j^{n+1}) \equiv p$ for j = 1, ..., n+1. If we consider τ_j^n as coordinates of fictitious particles at the *n*-th time step, then τ_{n+1}^n corresponds to a particle entering into the system from a reservoir on the left [10].

Now, we are able to interpret the GGF in the following way.

Proposition 0.3 Let

$$(\boldsymbol{x}^{0}, \boldsymbol{t}^{0}) = ((0, 0), \dots, (-N+1, 0))$$
 (13)

$$(\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{t}) = ((x + N - 1, t_1), \dots, (x, t_N))$$
 (14)

with $t_1 \leq t_2 \leq \cdots \leq t_N \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq x}$ and $x \geq -N+1$. Then we have

$$p^{N}G((\boldsymbol{x},\boldsymbol{t})|(\boldsymbol{x}^{0},\boldsymbol{t}^{0})) = \mathcal{M}\left(\bigcup_{k=1}^{N} \{\tau_{1}^{k} = t_{k}\}\right)$$
(15)

The measure $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{T})$ has the same functional form as in [10, 15, 11]. In particular, Lemma 3.4 of [11] can be directly applied here. There is a difference in the form of functions $\Psi_n^N(t)$ and in the space where the variables τ_j^i live, which is $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq x}$ rather than \mathbb{Z} . This difference does not affect the applicability of the Lemma, which is formulated in a rather abstract fashion, though has to be taken into account when obtaining the final expressions. According to Lemma 3.4 the multi-point correlation functions of $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{T})$ are determinantal.

Proposition 0.4 The correlation kernel of the measure \mathcal{M} , (9), is

$$K(n_{1},\tau_{1};n_{2},\tau_{2}) =$$

$$p \oint_{\Gamma_{1}} \frac{dv}{2\pi i v} \oint_{\Gamma_{0,v}} \frac{dw}{2\pi i w} \frac{(1-p(\frac{w-1}{w}))^{\tau_{1}}(\frac{w-1}{w})^{n_{1}}(w/v)^{x+N}}{(1-p(\frac{v-1}{v}))^{\tau_{2}+1}(\frac{v-1}{v})^{n_{2}}(w-v)}$$

$$-\mathbf{1}(n_{2}-n_{1}) \oint_{\Gamma_{1,0}} \frac{p dz}{2\pi i z^{2}} \left(\frac{z-1}{z}\right)^{n_{1}-n_{2}} \left(1-p\frac{z-1}{z}\right)^{\tau_{1}-\tau_{2}-1}.$$
(16)

The previous results furnish us with all the means required to write the quantity of interest (7) as a Fredholm determinant, which is the content of the following theorem:

Theorem 0.5

$$\mathbf{P} = \det \left(\mathbf{1} - \chi_{\mathbf{a}} \mathbf{K} \chi_{\mathbf{a}} \right) \right)_{l^2(\{n_1, \dots, n_m\} \times \mathbb{Z}_{>\tau})},\tag{17}$$

where $\chi_a(n_i)(t) = \mathbf{1}(t > a_i).$

- [1] T.M. Liggett, Stochastic Interacting Systems: Contact, Voter and Exclusion Processes (Springer, Berlin, 1999).
- [2] B. Derrida, Phys. Rep. **301** 65 (1998).
- [3] G.M. Schütz, J. Stat. Phys. 88, 427 (1997).

- [4] A. Rákos, G.M. Schütz, J. Stat. Phys. **118** 511 (2005).
- [5] A.M. Povolotsky, V.B. Priezzhev, J. Stat. Mech. P07002 (2006).
- [6] V. B. Priezzhev, Phys. Rev. Lett. **91** 050601 (2003).
- [7] A.M. Povolotsky, V.B. Priezzhev, J. Stat. Mech. P08018 (2007).
- [8] K. Johansson, Comm. Math. Phys. 209 437 (2000)
- [9] T. Nagao, T. Sasamoto, Nucl. Phys. B **699** 487 (2004).
- [10] T.Sasamoto, J. Phys. A **38** L549 (2005).
- [11] A. Borodin, P.L. Ferrari, M. Prähofer, T. Sasamoto, J. Stat. Phys. 129 1055 (2007).
- [12] A. Borodin, P.L. Ferrari, T. Sasamoto, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 61 1603-1629 (2008).
- [13] A. Borodin, P.L. Ferrari, T. Sasamoto, Comm. Math. Phys. 283 417 (2008).
- [14] J.G. Brankov, V.B. Priezzhev, R.V. Shelest, Phys. Rev. E 69 066136 (2004).
- [15] A. Borodin, E.M. Rains, J. Stat. Phys. **121** 291 (2005).

DYNAMICS OF QUANTUM-DOT SUPERRADIANCE

V.I. Yukalov and E.P. Yukalova

Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, 141980 Dubna, Russia

The theory of quantum-dot radiation is developed being based on microscopic equations. The possibility of realizing the superradiant regime is analyzed. The temporal evolution during all radiation stages is studied in detail. Special attention is payed to the process when coherence arises from an initially incoherent state. The description of this process is impossible by means of the standard semiclassical equations, because of which a more accurate method has been used in the paper, employing the stochastic mean-field approximation that has been developed earlier and applied for describing the dynamics of spin assemblies, Bose systems in random fields, and atomic squeezing [1-3].

It is necessary to emphasize that the radiation dynamics of quantum dots has several specific features distinguishing this dynamics from atomic radiation. This is connected, first of all, with rather different values of physical dot parameters, as compared to atomic parameters. Because of this, despite many analogies, the theory of dot radiation requires a separate investigation. The principal theoretical points that have been suggested in the present paper for the adequate description of dot radiation are as follows [4]:

(i) Because of essential current fluctuations in semiconductor, the standard semiclassical approximation, often used for atoms in free space, is not applicable for quantum dots. For the latter more elaborate techniques are required, such as the stochastic mean-field approximation.

(iii) For the correct description and principal understanding of the mechanism, triggering the beginning of the radiation process, it is important to stress the existence of triggering dipolar waves.

(iv) The single-mode picture is not applicable for quantum dots. It is necessary to consider a bunch of transverse modes forming spatial filaments. To reduce the consideration to a treatable problem, it is necessary to involve some tricks, like the transverse-mode expansion.

(v) The overall dynamics of dot radiation consists of several stages, which have been thoroughly studied and described, both analytically and numerically, for the parameters typical of quantum dots.

In the dynamics of dot radiation, it is possible to distinguish the following qualitatively different stages. The first is the *fluctuating stage* lasting during the time interval $0 < t < t_{int}$, when the radiation process is triggered by dipolar waves. At this stage, there is no yet sufficiently strong interaction between dots. The interaction time is of an order of $t_{int} \sim 10^{-15}s - 10^{-14}s$.

The second is the quantum stage in the temporal interval $t_{int} < t < t_{coh}$, when the dot interactions through photon exchange start playing a noticeable role, but coherence has not yet been developed. The coherence time, required for the appearance of the well-developed coherence is of an order of $t_{coh} \sim 10^{-14} s - 10^{-13} s$.

Then the *coherent stage* comes into play in the interval $t_{coh} < t < T_2$ when the dots emit a coherent superradiant pulse. For the quantum dot materials, the dephasing time is of an order of $T_2 \sim 10^{-13} s - 10^{-12} s$. The maximum of the pulse occurs at the delay time $t_0 \simeq 5 t_{coh}$ and the pulse duration is $\tau_p \simeq 2 t_{coh}$. The pulse duration is inversely proportional to the dot density, that is, inversely proportional to the number of dots involved in the process of radiation, which is a typical feature of superradiance.



Figure 1: The upper left figure represents the behavior of the coherence intensity w(t)(solid line) and population difference s(t) (dashed line) as functions of dimensionless time (measured in units of T_2) for the attenuation parameters $\gamma_1 = 0.003$, $\gamma_3 = 1$ (measured in units of γ_2), for the coupling parameter g = 10, with the initial conditions $w_0 = 0$, $s_0 = 1$. The upper right figure presents the behaviour of the coherence intensity w(t) (solid line) and population difference s as functions of dimensionless time (measured in units of T_2) for the attenuation parameters $\gamma_1 = 0.003$, $\gamma_3 = 10$ (measured in units of γ_2), for the coupling parameter g = 10, with the initial conditions $w_0 = 0$, $s_0 = 1$. A larger dynamic attenuation γ_3 makes the pulse more asymmetric. The lower figure presents the coherence intensity w(t)(solid line) and population difference s(t) (dashed line) as functions of dimensionless time (measured in units of T_2) in the case of external pumping, for the parameters $\gamma_1 = 10$, $\gamma_3 = 1$ (measured in units of γ_2), for the coupling parameter g = 100, with the initial conditions $w_0 = 0$, $s_0 = 1$. The coherence intensity, as well as population difference, exhibit five pulses with the decaying amplitude.

After the superradiant pulse is emitted, the system relaxes to an incoherent state during the *relaxation stage* in the interval $T_2 < t \ll T_1$. The population difference reverses. For the system of dots in a semiconducting material, the longitudinal relaxation time is $T_1 \sim 10^{-9}s$. However, this is not yet the final stage of evolution.

The stationary stage is reached for $t \gtrsim T_1$ if there is no external permanent pumping or the effective dot interactions are weak, so that $|g\zeta| \ll 1$. Then the system tends to a stationary

incoherent state representing a stable node.

If the system of dots is subject to a sufficiently strong external permanent pumping, the regime of *pulsing superradiance* occurs. Then a series of about 10 superradiant bursts can appear, flashing in the intervals of time $T_{eff} \sim 10^{-13}s$.

Figure 1 shows the evolution of coherence intensity and population dynamics as functions of dimensionless time t, measured in units of $T_2 \equiv 1/\gamma_2$, for several typical cases. We assume that at the initial time, the system is inverted, but coherence is absent and develops in a self-organized way. The upper figures correspond to the case of no external pumping when $\zeta = -1$. The difference between these figures is in the value of the dynamical attenuation rate. As we see, a larger γ_3 decreases the delay time and makes the superradiant pulse strongly asymmetric. The essential asymmetry of superradiant pulses is the feature typical of quantum-dot radiation. Another typical feature of the quantum-dot dynamics, also caused by the large rate γ_3 , is a much faster, than for atoms in free space, tendency of the population difference to the stationary state. The lower figure demonstrates the radiation dynamics in the case of external pumping, when $\zeta = 1$, and there appear several superradiant pulses with decaying amplitude.

- [1] V.I. Yukalov, Laser Phys. **19** (2009) 1–110.
- [2] V.I. Yukalov, E.P. Yukalova, and V.S. Bagnato, Laser Phys. **19** (2009) 686–699.
- [3] V.I. Yukalov, Phys. Rev. A **79** (2009) 052117–7.
- [4] V.I. Yukalov and E.P. Yukalova, Phys. Rev. B 81 (2010) 075308–14.

LOW-TEMPERATURE ELECTRICAL RESISTIVITY IN THE GEOMETRICALLY FRUSTRATED NEARLY ANTIFERROMAGNETIC METALLIC SYSTEM LiV_2O_4

V.Yu.Yushankhai

Joint Institute for Nuclear Research, 141980 Dubna, Russia

The metallic vanadium oxide LiV_2O_4 has attracted much attention after a heavy fermion behavior in this 3*d*-electron system was discovered about a decade ago. LiV_2O_4 has the cubic spinel structure with the magnetic vanadium ions (in the mixed valence state $V^{3.5+}$) occupying the pyrochlore lattice sites. At low temperatures, the spin system of LiV_2O_4 exhibits pronounced short-range antiferromagnetic (AFM) correlations, but no long-range magnetic ordering was detected at any measured temperatures. The geometrical frustration of the pyrochlore lattice is likely to be a crucial aspect of the problem. The frustration may suppress at any T a long-range ordering of strongly correlated itinerant electrons, but instead, the system is placed near a magnetic instability. The emergence of largely degenerate nearly critical (low-energy) AFM spin excitations in the ground state of LiV_2O_4 is expected to be responsible for low-T properties of this material, including its heavy fermion behaviour. Actually, the quasiparticle mass enhancement is expected when a metallic system is driven by strong electron correlations to the vicinity of a charge and/or spin phase transition at low T. This appealing picture has been suggested [1] and examined further [2, 3, 4, 5] by comparing the theoretical results with experimental data obtained by different techniques, like the inelastic neutron scattering and the nuclear magnetic resonance. In our theory, the temperature evolution of nearly critical spin fluctuations is treated in the framework of the self-consistent renormalization (SCR) approach. In the present report, I give a short review of our latest results obtained along this line and presented together with my colleagues in Ref.[6].

Specifically, we show that the low-T Fermi liquid behaviour of the resistivity and a deviation from this behavior for higher T may also be understood within that context. We calculate the temperature dependence of the electrical resistivity $\rho(T)$ assuming that two basic mechanisms of the quasiparticle scattering, resulting from impurities and spin-fluctuations, operate simultaneously. A peculiar behavior of $\rho(T)$ in LiV₂O₄ is related to the properties of low-energy spin fluctuations whose T-dependence is obtained from the SCR theory in a wide temperature range up to 40 K, where the SCR approach is valid.

In the linear response theory, in an applied electric field **E** the quasiparticle distribution function $f_{\mathbf{k}}$ is linearized around the equilibrium Fermi distribution $f_{\mathbf{k}}^{0}$, according to $f_{\mathbf{k}} = f_{\mathbf{k}}^{0} - \Phi_{\mathbf{k}} df_{\mathbf{k}}^{0}/d\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}}$. The electronic transport can be found from the Boltzmann equation

$$-e(\mathbf{E}\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}})\frac{df_{\mathbf{k}}^{0}}{d\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}}} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} W_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}\Phi_{\mathbf{k}'}.$$
(1)

The scattering operator $W_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}$ can be expressed through the total equilibrium transition probability $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} = \mathcal{P}^{imp}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} + \mathcal{P}^{sf}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}$ as $(k_B = \hbar = 1)$:

$$W_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} = \frac{1}{T} \left(\delta_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} \sum_{\mathbf{k}''} \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}''} - \mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} \right), \tag{2}$$

provided the spin fluctuations are in thermal equilibrium, i.e., there is no drag effect. For the elastic impurity scattering one has

$$\mathcal{P}^{imp}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} = 2\pi n_i |T_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}|^2 \delta(\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} - \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}'}) f^0_{\mathbf{k}} (1 - f^0_{\mathbf{k}'}).$$
(3)

To a sufficiently good approximation, the *T*-matrix in Eq.(3) is frequently assumed to be a constant $|T_{\mathbf{kk'}}|^2 \approx V_{imp}^2$ and $n_i V_{imp}^2$, where n_i is the impurity density, is regarded as a free parameter to be chosen so as to give a realistic value of the measured residual resistivity ρ_{imp} . We avoid this approximation and treat below the matrix elements of $\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{kk'}}^{imp}$ generally. For the spin-fluctuation (sf) scattering one has

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}^{sf} = 3J_{sf}^2 f_{\mathbf{k}}^0 (1 - f_{\mathbf{k}'}^0) [n(\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} - \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}'}) + 1] \operatorname{Im}\chi\left(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}', \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}} - \epsilon_{\mathbf{k}'}\right), \tag{4}$$

where $n(\epsilon)$ is the Bose distribution function, $\chi(\mathbf{q}, \epsilon)$ is the dynamical spin susceptibility describing the low-*T* paramagnetic state of LiV₂O₄ and J_{sf} is an effective coupling constant which is the second free parameter. It is worth emphasizing that in the present study the other parameters of the phenomenological SCR theory determining the behavior of $\chi(\mathbf{q}, \epsilon)$ are considered to be known and fixed from a fit to the data of inelastic neutron scattering measurement on LiV₂O₄, as discussed in [2].

The SCR theory offers a phenomenological description for "critical"spin fluctuations in nearly antiferromagnetic itinerant electron systems by taking into account effects of modemode coupling between spin fluctuations at $|\mathbf{q}| \sim |\mathbf{Q}_c|$. The location in \mathbf{q} -space and the multiplicity of "critical" wave vectors \mathbf{Q}_c are produced by specific properties of the electronic band structure and the topology of the many-sheet Fermi surface (FS) in LiV₂O₄.

Following the standard notation, the Boltzmann equation (1) can be rewritten in the form $X_{\mathbf{k}} = \sum_{\mathbf{k}'} W_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'} \Phi_{\mathbf{k}'}$. Then the electrical resistivity can be obtained by minimizing a functional

$$\rho[\Phi] = \min\left[\frac{\langle \Phi, W\Phi \rangle}{|\langle \Phi, X(E=1) \rangle|^2}\right].$$
(5)

Here E = 1 means the unit electrical field, and the scalar product of two functions $\Phi_{\mathbf{k}}$ and $\Psi_{\mathbf{k}}$ is defined as $\langle \Phi, \Psi \rangle = \sum_{\mathbf{k}} \Phi_{\mathbf{k}} \Psi_{\mathbf{k}}$. In fact, in Eq.(5) the **k**-integration over the actual FS is implied which follows from the property of the scattering operator $W_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}$ and the explicit form of $X_{\mathbf{k}} = e(\mathbf{E}\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{k}})(-df_{\mathbf{k}}^0/d\epsilon_{\mathbf{k}})$. A way to search for a variational solution of Eq.(5) for the deviation function $\Phi_{\mathbf{k}}$ is to expand it in a set of the Fermi-surface harmonics (FSH) $\phi_L(\mathbf{k})$:

$$\Phi_{\mathbf{k}} = \sum_{L} \eta_L \phi_L(\mathbf{k}), \tag{6}$$

where η_L are variational parameters and L is a convenient composite label that includes numbering of different sheets of the Fermi surface in LiV₂O₄

Then any matrix element of the scattering operator $W_{LL'} = \langle \phi_L, W \phi_{L'} \rangle$ contains a nearly constant (at low T) term $W_{LL'}^{imp}$ and a T-dependent spin-fluctuation term $W_{LL'}^{sf}$ that can be presented in a factorized form

$$W_{LL'}^{sf} \approx C_{LL'} \mathcal{F}(T), \tag{7}$$

where

$$C_{LL'} = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\right)^6 \oint \frac{d^2k}{v_{\mathbf{k}}} \oint \frac{d^2k'}{v_{\mathbf{k}'}} \left[\phi_L(\mathbf{k}) - \phi_L(\mathbf{k}')\right] M_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}^{sf} \left[\phi_{L'}(\mathbf{k}) - \phi_{L'}(\mathbf{k}')\right],\tag{8}$$



Fig. 1 Theoretical fit to the experimental data (Refs.[7, 8], open circles) for the electrical resistivity $\rho(T)$ in LiV₂O₄ in different temperature regions.

$$\mathcal{F}(T) = \frac{1}{T} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\epsilon \int \frac{d^{3}q}{(2\pi)^{3}} \epsilon n(\epsilon) [n(\epsilon) + 1] \operatorname{Im}\chi\left(\mathbf{Q}_{c} + \mathbf{q}, \epsilon\right),$$
(9)

and the matrix $M_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}^{sf}$ is defined as $M_{\mathbf{k}\mathbf{k}'}^{sf} \simeq 3J_{sf}^2 \sum_{\{\mathbf{Q}_c\}} \delta(\mathbf{k}' - \mathbf{k} - \mathbf{Q}_c)$. The matrix is invariant under simultaneous operations of the lattice point group on both \mathbf{k} and \mathbf{k}' , since the manifold $\{\mathbf{Q}_c\}$ is an invariant as well.

Special attention has been paid to two limiting regimes of low- and comparatively hightemperatures (T < 40K). In Fig.3, the calculated $\rho(T)$ is compared with physical resistivity $\rho^{\exp}(T)$ reported in [7, 8].

A satisfactory coincidence between the experimental data and calculated results is achieved in both temperature regimes. Our theory provides also the interpolation T-dependent function describing $\rho^{\exp}(T)$ correctly between the low- and high-T limits as well.

- [1] V. Yushankhai, A. Yaresko, P. Fulde, and P. Thalmeier, Phys. Rev. B 76 (2007) 085111.
- [2] V. Yushankhai, P. Thalmeier, and T. Takimoto, Phys. Rev. B 77 (2008) 125126.
- [3] V. Yushankhai, T. Takimoto, and P. Thalmeier, J.Phys: Condensed Matter 20 (2008) 465221.
- [4] P. Thalmeier, B. Schmidt, V. Yushankhai, and T. Takimoto, Physica Polonica A 115 (2009) 53.
- [5] V. Yushankhai, Lectures on the Physics of Strongly Correlated Systems XIII, AIP Conf. Proc. (Melville, N-Y) 1162 (2009) 226.
- [6] V. Yushankhai, T. Takimoto, and P. Thalmeier, Phys. Rev. B. 82 (2010) 085112.
- [7] H. Takagi, C. Urano, S. Kondo, M. Nohara, Y. Ueda, T. Shiraki, T. Okubo, Materials Science and Engineering, B 63 (1999) 147.
- [8] C. Urano, M. Nohara, S. Kondo, F. Sakai, H. Takagi, T. Shiraki, and T. Okubo, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 1052.

THE LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

MONOGRAPHS

- 1. A.Yu. Cherny, E.M. Anitas, A.I. Kuklin, M. Balasoiu, V.A. Osipov, "Small-angle neutron scattering from deterministic fractal systems", Chapter in the book: *Modern Trends in Nanoscience*, Publishing House of Romanian Academy, 2010.
- 2. N.M. Plakida, "High-Temperature Cuprate Superconductors. Experiment, Theory, and Applications", Springer Series in Solid-State Sciences, Vol. 166, 1st Edition., 2010, 570 pp.162 illus., ISBN: 978-3-642-12632-1.
- 3. Yu.M. Shukrinov, F. Mahfouzi, "Current-Voltage Characteristics and Breakpoint Phenomenon in Intrinsic Josephson Junctions", Chapter 5 in New Development in Josephson Junctions Research, 2010: 107-136 (Ed. S. Sergeenkov).

JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS

- 1. П.Х. Атанасова, Т.Л. Бояджиев, Ю.М. Шукринов, Е.В. Земляная, "Численное моделирование длинных джозефсоновских контактов, описываемых двойным уравнением Sine-Gordon", *Математическое моделирование* **22** (2010).
- 2. П.Х. Атанасова, Е.В. Земляная, Т.Л. Бояджиев, Ю.М. Шукринов, "Устойчивость и бифуркации магнитного потока в джозефсоновских контактах, описываемых двойным уравнением Sine-Gordon", Вестник РУДН, серия МИФ 2(2), 108-112 (2010).
- 3. F.C. Alcaraz, P. Pyatov, V. Rittenberg, "Two-component abelian sandpile models", *Phys. Rev. E* **79**, 1-4 (2009).
- E.M. Anitas, M. Balasoiu, I. Bica, V.A. Osipov, A.I. Kuklin, "Small-angle neutron scattering analysis of the microstructure of Stomaflex Crème - Ferrofluid based elastomers", OAM-RC 3(6), 621-624 (2009).
- P.Kh. Atanasova, T.L. Boyadjiev, Yu.M Shukrinov, E.V. Zemlyanaya, P. Seidel, "Influence of Josephson current second harmonic on stability of magnetic flux in long junctions", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012044 (2010).
- 6. P.Kh. Atanasova, E.V. Zemlyanaya, T.L. Boyadjiev, Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Numerical study of magnetic flux in the LJJ model with double sine-Gordon equation", *Lecture Notes in Computer Science* **6046**, 347-352 (Springer, 2011).
- 7. M. Balasoiu, M.L. Craus, E.M. Anitas, I. Bica, J. Plestil, A.I. Kuklin, "Microstructure of Stomaflex Based Magnetic Elastomers", *Phys. Sol. State* **52**(5), 917-921 (2010).
- 8. I.Bauer, T.A. Ivanova, O. Lechtenfeld and F. Lubbe, "Yang-Mills instantons and dyons on homogeneous G₂-manifolds," JHEP **1010**, 44 (2010).

- J.G. Brankov, N.S. Tonchev, "Generalized inequalities for the Bogoliubov Duhamelinner product with applications in the Approximating Hamiltonian method", Cond. Mat. Phys. 14, No.1, 1-17 (2011).
- 10. N. Zh. Bunzarova, "Statistical properties of directed avalanches", *Phys. Rev. E* 82, 031116 (2010).
- 11. A.Yu. Cherny, E.M. Anitas, A.I. Kuklin, M. Balasoiu, V.A. Osipov, "The scattering from generalized Cantor fractals", J. Appl. Cryst. 43, 790-797 (2010).
- 12. A.Yu. Cherny, E.M. Anitas, A.I. Kuklin, M. Balasoiu, V.A. Osipov, "Small-angle scattering from the deterministic fractal systems", J. Surf. Invest. 4(6), 903-907 (2010).
- A. Yu. Cherny, J.-S. Caux, and J. Brand, "Dynamic and static density-density correlations in the one-dimensional Bose gas: exact results and approximations", *Phys. Rev. A* 79, 043607 (2009).
- 14. A. Yu. Cherny, J.-S. Caux, and J. Brand, "Decay of superfluid currents in the interacting one-dimensional Bose gas", *Phys. Rev. A* 80, 043604 (2009).
- A. Yu. Cherny, J.-S. Caux, and J. Brand, "Drag force and Hess-Fairbank effect in one-dimensional Bose gas", J. Siberian Fed. Univ., Math. and Phys. 3, pp. 289-296 (2010).
- 16. A.V. Chizhov, "Stokes-anti-Stokes entanglement in stimulated Raman scattering", Письма в ЭЧАЯ 6, 814-819 (2009).
- 17. A. Chizhov, R.G. Nazmitdinov, "An orbital entanglement in two-electron quantum dots in a magnetic field", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012021-4 (2010).
- J. Dittrich, V.I. Inozemtsev. "Towards the proof of complete integrability of quantum elliptic many- body systems with spin degrees of freedom. *Regular and Chaotic Dynamics* 14 218 (2009).
- J. de Gier, P. Pyatov, P. Zinn-Justin, "Punctured plane partitions and the q-deformed Knizhnik-Zamolodchikov and Hirota equations', J. of Combinatorial Theory A 116, 772-794 (2009).
- S. Gluzman, V.I. Yukalov, "Self-similar extrapolation from weak to strong coupling", J. Math. Chem. 48, 883-913 (2010).
- A. Grib, Yu. M. Shukrinov, F. Schmidl, P. Seidel, "Experimental and theoretical investigation on high-Tc superconducting intrinsic Josephson junctions", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012038 (2010).
- 22. S.Y. Grigorev and V.S. Poghosyan and V.B. Priezzhev, "Three-leg correlations in the two-component spanning tree on the upper half-plane", J. of Stat. Mech.: Theory and Experiment, P09008 (2009).
- 23. D. Gurevich, P. Pyatov, P. Saponov, 'Representation theory of (modified) Reflection Equation Algebra of GL(m|n) type', St Petersburg Math. J. 20, 213 (2009).

- 24. D. Gurevich, P. Pyatov, P. Saponov, 'Spectral parameterization for power sums of a quantum supermatrix', *Theor. and Math. Phys.* **159**, 587 (2009).
- D. Gurevich, P. Pyatov, P. Saponov, 'Bilinear identities on Schur symmetric functions', J. of Nonlin. Math. Phys. 17, 1-15 (2010).
- 26. M. Hamdipour, Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Study of charge-phase diagrams for coupled system of Josephson junctions", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012042 (2010).
- M. Hamdipour, Y.M. Shukrinov, M.R. Kolahchi, "Study of correlation and autocorrelation of supercurrent and charge in the stacked Josephson junctions", *Iran. J. Phys. Res.* 10, 50 (2010).
- 28. D. Harland, T. A. Ivanova, O. Lechtenfeld and A. D. Popov, "Yang-Mills flows on nearly Kaehler manifolds and G₂-instantons," Commun. Math. Phys. **300**, 185 (2010).
- 29. V.K. Henner, P.V. Kharebov, and V.I. Yukalov, "Superradiation from molecular nanomagnets", Sol. St. Phen. 152, 249-252 (2009).
- 30. V. Ilkovic, "Field-induced magnetic reorientation in ultrathin ferromagnetic films: Phase diagrams", *Phys. Stat. Sol. B* 247, 979-982 (2010).
- 31. V. Ilkovic, J. Kecer, "The Reorientation Temperature in an Antiferromagnetic Monolayer", Acta Phys. Polonica A 118, 63-64 (2010).
- 32. N.G.Inozemtseva, V.I. Inozemtsev and B.I.Sadovnikov. "The correlation function and the thermodynamic quantities of the mixed model", *Phys. Part. Nucl.* **41** 1064 (2010).
- 33. N.G. Inozemtseva, V.I. Inozemtsev and B.I. Sadovnikov. "A special set of eigenvectors for the hyperbolic Sutherland systems", *Theor. Math. Phys.* **164** 1184, (2010).
- 34. N.G. Inozemtseva, V.I. Inozemtsev and B.I. Sadovnikov. "Integrable equations for the model with N sources and n modes", *Theor. Math. Phys.* **164**, *1176* (2010).
- 35. A. Isaev, P. Pyatov, "Spectral extension of the quantum group cotangent bundle", Comm. in Math. Phys. 288, 1137 (2009).
- O.G. Isaeva, V.A. Osipov, "Modelling of anti-tumour immune response: immunocorrective effect of weak centimetre electromagnetic waves", Comp. and Math. Meth. in Med. 10, 185-201 (2009).
- O.G. Isaeva, V.A. Osipov, "Different strategies for cancer treatment: Mathematical modelling", Comp. and Math. Meth. in Med. 10, 253-272 (2009).
- T. A. Ivanova, O. Lechtenfeld, A. D. Popov and T. Rahn, "Instantons and Yang-Mills flows on coset spaces", *Lett. Math. Phys.* 89, 231 (2009).
- 39. V. L. Katkov, V. A. Osipov, "Energy distributions of field emitted electrons from carbon nanosheets: manifestation of the quantum size effect", *JETP Letters* **90**, 304-308 (2009).

- 40. V.L. Katkov, V.A. Osipov, "Energy Distributions of Field Emitted Electrons from Few-Layer Graphene Sheets with AB and ABC Stacking", *Phys. Part. Nucl.* **41**, 1027-1030 (2010).
- 41. V.L. Katkov and V.A. Osipov, "Influence of tip geometry on the field emission law from axisymmetric and wall-like emitters", *Europhys. Lett.* **89** 17002-17006 (2010).
- 42. E.A. Kochetov, A. Ferraz, R. Pepino, "Low-energy representation of the projected BCS hamiltonian close to half filling", *Phys. Rev. B* **79**, 115135 (2009).
- 43. E.A. Kochetov, V.A. Osipov, "Dirac fermions on a disclinated flexible surface", *JETP Letters* **91**, 128-133 (2010).
- 44. E.A. Kochetov, V.A. Osipov, R. Pincak, "Electronic properties of disclinated flexible membrane beyond the inextensional limit: application to graphene", J. Phys.: Condensed Matter 22, 395502 (2010).
- 45. D.V. Kolesnikov, V.A. Osipov, "Conductance through the disclination dipole defect in metallic carbon nanotubes", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012009 (2010).
- 46. S.E. Krasavin, "Electron scatterning due to dislocation wall strain field in GaN layers", J. Appl. Phys. 105, 126104 (2009).
- 47. S.E. Krasavin, "Mobility in epitaxial GaN: Limitation of electron transport due to dislocation walls", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012052 (2010).
- 48. A.L. Kuzemsky, "Statistical Mechanics and Physics of Many-Particle Model Systems", *Phys. Elem. Particles and Atomic Nuclei* **40**, 4 (2009) (In Russian).
- 49. A.L. Kuzemsky, "Bogoliubov's Vision: Quasiaverages and Broken Symmetry to Quantum Protectorate and Emergence", Int. J. Mod. Phys. 24, 835 (2010).
- 50. A.L. Kuzemsky, "Symmetry Breaking, Quantum Protectorate and Quasiaverages in Condensed Matter Physics", *Phys. Elem. Part. and Atom. Nucl.* **41**, 1031 (2010).
- 51. A.L. Kuzemsky, "Quasiaverages, Symmetry Breaking and Irreducible Green Functions Method", Cond. Mat. Phys. 13, 43001 (2010).
- 52. M.M. Maska, M. Mierzejewski, A. Ferraz, E.A. Kochetov, "Ising t-J model close to half filling: a Monte Carlo study", J. Phys.: Condensed Matter 21, 045703 (2009).
- V.A. Moskalenko, L.A. Dohotaru, "Diagrammatic Analysis of the Hubbard Model: Stationary Property of the Thermodynamic Potential", *Physics of Particles and Nuclei* 41, 1039 (2010).
- 54. V.A. Moskalenko, L.A. Dohotaru, "Diagrammatic Theory for Periodic Anderson Model", *Physics of Particles and Nuclei* **41**, 1044 (2010).
- 55. V.A. Moskalenko, L.A. Dohotaru, I.D. Cebotari, "Diagram analysis of the Hubbard model: stationary property of the thermodynamic potential", *Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.* **138**, 107 (2010).

- 56. V.A. Moskalenko, L.A. Dohotaru, R. Citro, "Diagram theory for the periodic Anderson model: stationarity of the thermodynamic potential", *Teor. Mat. Fiz.* **162**, 439 (2010).
- 57. V.O. Nesterenko, A.N. Novikov, A. Yu. Cherny, F.F. de Souza Cruz, E. Suraud, "An adiabatic transport of Bose-Einstein condensates in a double-well traps", J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 42, 235303 (2009).
- 58. V.O. Nesterenko, A.N. Novikov, F.F. de Souza Cruz, E. L. Lapolli, "STIRAP transport of Bose-Einstein condensate in a triple-well trap", *Laser Physics* **19**, *616 (2009)*.
- 59. V.O. Nesterenko, A.N. Novikov, E. Suraud, "Adiabatic transport of Bose-Einstein condensates in a double-well trap: Case of Weak Nonlinearity", *Laser Physics* **20**, 1149 (2010).
- 60. V.O. Nesterenko, A.N. Novikov, E. Suraud, J. Kvasil, "Tunnelling and transport dynamics of trapped Bose-Einstein condensate", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012033 (2010).
- N.M. Plakida, "Superconductivity in strongly correlated electronic systems", Moldavian J. Phys. Sciences 8, No. 1, 1-10 (2009).
- 62. N.M. Plakida, "Theory of High-Temperature Superconductivity in Cuprates", *Phys. Elem. Particles and Atomic Nuclei* **41**, 1959-1963 (2010).
- 63. V.N. Plechko, "Fermions and disorder in Ising and related models in two dimensions", *Physics of Particles and Nuclei* **41**, 1054-1060 (2010).
- 64. V.S. Poghosyan, S.Y. Grigorev, V.B. Priezzhev, P. Ruelle, "Logarithmic two-point correlators in the Abelian sandpile model", J. of Stat. Mech.: Theory and Experiment, P07025(2010).
- 65. S. S. Poghosyan, V. B. Priezzhev and G. M. Shutz, "Green functions for the TASEP with sublattice parallel update," J. Stat. Mech. P04022, (2010).
- 66. E.M. Rains and V.P. Spiridonov, "Determinants of elliptic hypergeometric integrals", Funkt. Analiz i ego Pril. 43, 67 (2009); (English transl.: Funct. Analysis and its Appl. 43, 297 (2009)).
- A.V. Rogachev, A.I. Kuklin, A.Yu. Cherny, A.N. Ozerin, A.M. Muzafarov, E.A. Tatarinova, V.I. Gordeliy, "The structure of organosilicon dendrimers of high generations", *Fiz. Tverd. Tela* 52, No.5, 979-983 (2010) (in Russian).
- S. Sahling, S. Abens, V. L. Katkov, V. A. Osipov, "Anomalous isotopic effect of tunneling states in NbTi-H/D", *Phys. Rev. B* 82, 174204-11 (2010).
- 69. R.F. Shiozaki, G.D. Telles, V.I. Yukalov, and V.S. Bagnato, "Transition to quantum turbulence in finite-size superfluids", *Laser Phys. Lett.* 8, 393-397 (2011).
- 70. Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Tunneling in Superconducting Structures", *Physics of Particles and Nuclei* **41**, 1071 (2010).
- 71. Yu.M. Shukrinov, M. Hamdipour, "Charge creation and nucleation of the longitudinal plasma wave in coupled Josephson junctions", *Eur. Phys. Lett.* **92**, 37010 (2010).

- Yu.M. Shukrinov, M. Hamdipour, M.R. Kolahchi, "Effect of interjunction coupling on superconducting current and charge correlations in intrinsic Josephson junction", *Phys. Rev.* B 80, 014512 (2009).
- 73. Yu.M. Shukrinov, I. Rahmonov, "Influence of the diffusion current on hysteretic behavior in coupled Josephson junctions", Письма в ЖЭТФ 92, 364 (2010).
- Yu.M Shukrinov, I.R. Rahmonov, M. El Demery, "Peculiarities of phase dynamics of coupled Josephson junctions in CCJJ and CCJJ+DC models", J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 248, 012043 (2010).
- 75. L. Siurakshina, B. Paulus, V. Yushankhai, E. Sivachenko, "Quantum chemical study of Co³⁺ spin states in LaCoO₃", *Eur. Phys. J. B* **74**, *No.1*, 53-61 (2010).
- 76. D. Sornette, V.I. Yukalov, E.P. Yukalova, J.Y. Henry, D. Schwab, and J.P. Cobb, "Endogenous versus exogenous origins of diseases", J. Biological Systems 17, 225-267 (2009).
- 77. V.P. Spiridonov and G.S. Vartanov, "Supersymmetric dualities beyond the conformal window", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **105**, 061603 (2010).
- 78. V.P. Spiridonov and G.S. Vartanov, "Superconformal indices for $\mathcal{N} = 1$ theories with multiple duals", Nucl. Phys. B 824, 192 (2010).
- 79. P. Thalmeier, B. Schmidt, V. Yushankhai, T. Takimito, "Frustrated Magnetism in Vanadium Oxides", Acta Phys. Polonica A 115, No. 1, 53-58 (2009).
- N.S. Tonchev, J.G. Brankov and V.A. Zagrebnov, "Overview of the superradiant phase transition: the Dicke model", J. Optoelectr. Adv. Materials 11, No. 9, 1142-1149 (2009).
- A.A. Vladimirov, D. Ile, N.M. Plakida, "Dynamic spin susceptibility in the t-J model", *Phys. Rev. B* 80, No. 10, 104425 1-12, (2009).
- A.A. Vladimirov, D. Ile, N.M. Plakida, "Dynamic spin susceptibility of superconducting cuprates: A microscopic theory of the magnetic resonance mode", *Phys. Rev. B* 83, *No. 2*, 924411 1-13 (2011).
- 83. V.I. Yukalov, "Adiabatic theorems for linear and nonlinear Hamiltonians", *Phys. Rev.* A **79**, 052117 (2009).
- 84. V.I. Yukalov, "Cold bosons in optical lattices", Laser Phys. 19 1-110 (2009).
- V.I. Yukalov, "Particle fluctuations in nonuniform and trapped Bose gases", Laser Phys. Lett. 6, 688-695 (2009).
- 86. V.I. Yukalov, "Fluctuation indices for atomic systems with Bose-Einstein condensate", Laser Phys. Lett. 7, 831-836 (2010).
- 87. V.I. Yukalov, "Turbulent superfluid as continuous vortex mixture", Laser Phys. Lett. 7, 467-476 (2010).

- 88. V.I. Yukalov, "Systems with symmetry breaking and restoration", Symmetry 2, 40-68 (2010).
- 89. V.I. Yukalov and V.S. Bagnato, "Generation of nonground-state condensates and adiabatic paradox", *Laser Phys. Lett.* 6, 399-403 (2009).
- 90. V.I. Yukalov and S. Gluzman, "Optimization of self-similar factor approximants", *Molec.* Phys. **107**, 2237-2244 (2009).
- 91. V.I. Yukalov, A. Rakhimov, S. Mardonov, "Quasiequilibrium mixture of itinerant and localized Bose atoms in optical lattice", *Laser Physics* **21**, 264-270 (2011).
- 92. V.I. Yukalov and D. Sornette, "Physics of risk and uncertainty in quantum decision making", Eur. Phys. J. B 71, 533-548 (2009).
- 93. V.I. Yukalov and D. Sornette, "Processing information in quantum decision theory", Entropy 11, 1073-1120 (2009).
- 94. V.I. Yukalov, D. Sornette, "Entanglement production in quantum decision making", *Phys. Atomic Nuclei* **73**, 559-562 (2010).
- 95. V.I. Yukalov, D. Sornette, "Mathematical structure of quantum decision theory", Adv. Complex Systems 13, 659-698 (2010).
- 96. V.I. Yukalov, D. Sornette, "Decision theory with prospect interference and entanglement", Theory and Decision **70**, 283-328 (2011).
- 97. V.I. Yukalov, D. Sornette, and E.P. Yukalova, "Nonlinear dynamical model of regime switching between conventions and business cycles", J. Econ. Behav. and Org. 70, 206-230 (2009).
- 98. V.I. Yukalov and E.P. Yukalova, "Nonlinear dynamics of ultracold gases in double-well lattices", *Laser Phys. Lett.* 6, 235-241 (2009).
- V.I. Yukalov and E.P. Yukalova, "Dynamics of quantum dot superradiance", *Phys. Rev.* B 81, 075308 1-14 (2010).
- 100. V.I. Yukalov, E.P. Yukalova, and V.S. Bagnato, "Bose systems in spatially random or time-varying potentials", *Laser Phys.* **19**, 686-699 (2009).
- 101. V.I. Yukalov, E.P. Yukalova, S. Gluzman, "Extrapolation and interpolation of asymptotic series by self-similar approximants", J. Math. Chem. 47, 959-983 (2010).
- 102. V.I. Yukalov, E.P. Yukalova, and D. Sornette, "Punctuated evolution due to delayed carrying capacity", *Physica D* 238, 1752-1767 (2009).
- 103. V. Yushankhai, T. Takimoto, P. Thalmeier, "Low-temperature electrical resistivity in paramagnetic spinel LiV₂O₄", *Phys. Rev. B* 82, 085112 (2010).
- 104. P. E. Zhidkov "On the eigenfunction expansions associated with semilinear Sturm-Liouville-type problems", Nonlin. Anal.: Theory, Methods and Applications 70, 4123 (2009).

- 105. P. E. Zhidkov "On the equivalence of the centered Gaussian measure in L_2 with the correlation operator $\left(-\frac{d^2}{dx^2}\right)^{-1}$ and the conditional Wiener measure", *Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo*" (international mathematical journal) **58**, 427 (2009).
- 106. P. E. Zhidkov "On the existence, uniqueness, and basis properties of radial eigenfunctions of a semilinear second-order elliptic equation in a ball", Int. J. of Math. and Math. Sci. 2009, (2009)
- 107. P. E. Zhidkov "Existence of positive radial solutions for some nonvariational superlinear elliptic systems", J. of Math. Analysis and Applications **361**, 123 (2009).

ARTICLES ACCEPTED FOR PUBLICATION

- 1. P.Kh. Atanasova, E.V. Zemlyanaya, T.L. Boyadjiev, Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Numerical investigation of the second harmonic effects in the LJJ", *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*.
- A. I. Kuklin, A. V. Rogachev, A. Yu. Cherny, E. B. Dokukin, A. Kh. Islamov, Yu. S. Kovalev, T. N. Murugova, D. V. Soloviev, O. I. Ivankov, A. G. Soloviev, V. I. Gordeliy, "Do the size effects exist?", *Romanian J. Phys.* 56, No. 1-2 (2011).
- 3. A. E. Patrick, "A Droplet within the Spherical Model", to be published in J. of Stat. Phys. (2011).
- 4. A.M. Povolotsky, V.B. Priezzhev, G.M. Schutz, "Generalized Green Functions and current correlations in the TASEP", J. Stat. Phys., to appear [arxiv:1007.1391 [math-ph]].
- 5. V.P. Spiridonov and G.S. Vartanov, "Elliptic hypergeometry of supersymmetric dualities", Commun. Math. Phys., to appear; [arXiv:0910.5944 [hep-th]].

PREPRINTS AND DATA BASES

- А.И.Куклин, А.В.Рогачев, А.Ю.Черный, Т.Н.Муругова, Е.Б.Докукин, А.Х.Исламов, О.И. Иваньков, Ю.С.Ковалев, Д.В.Соловьев, П.К.Утробин, А.Г.Соловьев, В.И.Горделий, "Наномасштабные размерные эффекты", Сообщения ОИЯИ Р14-2009-128, 2009.
- E.M. Anitas, D.V. Kolesnikov, A.I. Kuklin, M. Balasoiu, V.A. Osipov, "Small-Angle Neutron Scattering from 3D monodispere Vicsek fractals", JINR Communication E14-2009-154 (2009).
- P.Kh. Atanasova, E.V. Zemlyanaya, T.L. Boyadjiev, Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Numerical analysis of LJJ, describing by double sine-Gordon equation", *LIT Scientific report* 2008-2009, ed. by Gh. Adam, V.V. Ivanov, V.V. Korenkov, T.A. Strizh, P.V. Zrelov, Dubna: JINR, 2009, 182-183 (in Russian).
- 4. Boyka L. Aneva and Jordan G. Brankov, "Algebraic approach to directed stochastic avalanches", arxiv: 1101.2822 [nlin.CG].

- 5. D. Gurevich, P. Pyatov, P. Saponov, 'Braided Differential Operators on Quantum Algebras', arXiv:1004.4721 [math.QA], submitted to Journal of Geometry and Physics.
- 6. V.L. Katkov, V.A. Osipov, "Energy distributions of field emitted electrons from carbon nanosheets: manifestation of the quantum size effect", arXiv:0905.1000 [cond-mat.meshall].
- 7. V.N. Plechko, "Fermions and disorder in Ising and related models in two dimensions", arXiv:1008.4961 [cond-mat.stat-mech].
- 8. V.S. Poghosyan, S.Y. Grigorev, V.B. Priezzhev, P. Ruelle, "Logarithmic two-point correlators in the Abelian sandpile model", *Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment*, P07025
- 9. V.P. Spiridonov, "Elliptic beta integrals and solvable models of statistical mechanics", arXiv:1011.3798 [hep-th].
- 10. V.P. Spiridonov and G.S. Vartanov, "Superconformal indices of $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM field theories", arXiv:1005.4196v2 [hep-th].

CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTIONS

- A.V. Chizhov, "Quantum channel decoherence in optics", Proceedings of the XIII International Conference on Selected Problems of Modern Physics - Dubna: JINR, 2009, p. 387-389.
- А.В.Чижов, Р.Г.Назмитдинов, "Эффекты диссипации на квантовое перепутывание орбитального движения электрона в квантовой точке в магнитном поле", Тезисы докладов 3-й международной конференции / школы-семинара "Современные нанотехнологии и нанофотоника для науки и производств" (г. Суздаль, 17-19 ноября 2010 г.) — Владимир: ВлГУ, 2010, сс. 77-78.
- A.V. Chizhov, R.G. Nazmitdinov, "Entanglement control in a two-dimensional quantum dot in a magnetic field", Book of Abstracts of the International Conference "Mathematical Modeling and Computational Physics" (Dubna, July 7-11, 2009) — Dubna: JINR Д11-2009-88, 2009, p. 198.
- 4. A.V. Chizhov, R.G. Nazmitdinov, "An orbital entanglement in two-electron quantum dots in a magnetic field", Book of abstracts of the International Conference on Theoretical Physics "Dubna-Nano 2010" (Dubna, July 5-10, 2010) Dubna: JINR, 2010, p. 39.
- 5. O.G. Isaeva, V.A. Osipov, "Photodynamic therapy influence on anti-cancer immunity", *Proceedings of SPIE* **7547**, 7547041-75470410 (2010).
- 6. О.Г. Исаева, В.А. Осипов, "Моделирование противоракового иммунного ответа с учетом влияния радио- и иммунотерапии", *Материалы III Международной Конференции Математической Биологии и Биоинформатики, Пущино, Россия.*
- 7. S.E. Krasavin, "Mobility in epitaxial GaN: Limitation of electron transport due to dislocation walls", *Proceedings of the International Conference Dubna-Nano* 2010 Dubna: JINR, 2010, p. 99.

- A. I. Kuklin, A. V. Rogachev, A. Yu. Cherny, E. B. Dokukin, A. Kh. Islamov, Yu. S. Kovalev, T. N. Murugova, D. V. Soloviev, O. I. Ivankov, A. G. Soloviev, V. I. Gordeliy, "Do the size effects exist?", 10th Int. Balkan Workshop on Applied Physics, Balkan Physics Society, Constanta, Romania, 2009.
- 9. A.L. Kuzemsky, "Symmetry Breaking, Quantum Protectorate and Quasiaverages in Condensed Matter Physics", International Bogoliubov Conference "Problems of Theoretical and mathematical Physics", ОИЯИ, Дубна, Россия, 2009.
- N.M. Plakida, "Theory of high-temperature superconductivity in cuprates", International Bogoliubov Conference "Problems of Theoretical and Mathematical Physics", РАН, МГУ, ОИЯИ, Москва-Дубна, Россия, 2009.
- 11. N.M. Plakida, "Theory of High-Temperature Superconductivity in Cuprates", Conference dedicated to the 100-th anniversary of N.N. Bogoliubov, Bogoliubov Institute for Theoretical Physics, Institute of Mathematics, Kyiv, Ukraine, 2009.
- 12. N. M. Plakida, V.S. Oudovenko, "Theory of high-temperature superconductivity in cuprates", 23rd General Conference of the Condensed Matter Division of the European Physical Society, European Physical Society, Warsaw, Poland, 2010.
- 13. N.M. Plakida, A.A. Vladimirov, and D. Ihle, "Dynamic spin susceptibility and superconductivity in cuprates", The 3-rd Conference dedicated to the 100-th anniversary of N.N. Bogolyubov, Institute for Condensed Matter Physics, NASU, 2009.
- 14. A.V. Rogachev, A.Yu. Cherny, A.N. Ozerin, A.M. Muzafarov, E.A. Tatarinova, A.Kh. Islamov, V.I. Gordeliy, A.I. Kuklin, "Dendrimers as the specific class of polymer materials: structure, properties and application", 14th International Seminar on Neutron Scattering Investigation in Condensed Matter, Poznan, Poland, 2009.
- 15. Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Temperature variation of LPW wave number in intrinsic Josephson junctions", Materials of International Superconducting Electronic Conference, Fukuoka, Japan, June 16-19, 2009, TD-P26.
- 16. Yu.M. Shukrinov, "Tunneling in superconducting structures", Proceedings of the International Bogolyubov Conference "Problems of Theoretical and Mathematical Physics", August 21-27, 2009, Moscow-Dubna, Russia.
- Yu.M. Shukrinov, A. Irie, G.-I. Oya, M. Suzuki, N.F. Pedersen, P. Seidel. "Return current in current-voltage characteristics of intrinsic Josephson junjctions", *Materials* of International Superconducting Electronic Conference, Fukuoka, Japan, June 16-19, 2009, TD-02.
- Yu. Shukrinov, I. Rahmonov, M. El Demery, "Phase Dynamics in IJJ: Comparative Study in Different Models", Materials of the 7-th International Symposium "Plasma 2010", Hirosaki, Japan, April 25-28, 2010.
- Yu. Shukrinov, M. Suzuki, "Breakpoint region structure: the influence of number of intrinsic Josephson junctions in the stack and boundary conditions", Materials of Joint JSPS-ESF International Conference on Nanoscience and Engineering in Superconductivity, Tsukuba March 23-26, 2009, pp. 48-49.

20. V. Yushankhai, "Low-energy spin fluctuations in the metallic spinel compound LiV_2J_4 " AIP Conference Proceedings, Melville, New York, 2009.